I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The Petitioner is Dorothy Ann Millican, who appears as the 

personal representative of the estate of her deceased adult son, Daren M. 

LaFayette, and on her own behalf to assert her rights as a statutory 

beneficiary of this action. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals, Division Three, issued its partially 

published decision terminating review on November 15, 2013. A copy of 

the decision is attached as Appendix A ("Slip op."). Mrs. Millican seeks 

review of the portion of the decision affirming the summary judgment 

dismissal of her claim against N.A. Degerstrom, Inc., as a statutory 

beneficiary of the action for her son's wrongful death. Slip op. at 32-36. 

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

This Court held in Armantrout v. Carlson, 166 Wn.2d 931, 214 

P.3d 914 (2009), that in determining whether a parent was dependent upon 

her deceased adult child for support for purposes of being a statutory 

beneficiary of a wrongful death action under RCW 4.20.020, "support" is 

not limited to monetary contributions but may include economically 

valuable services provided by the decedent without compensation. Is the 

trier of fact restricted to considering only medical care and related direct 

personal assistance similar to that provided by the deceased adult child in 

Armantrout, or may the trier of fact also consider other economically 

valuable services such as property maintenance and improvement services 

upon which the parent can demonstrate financial dependence? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Daren LaFayette, a Nineteen-Year-Old Worker on a Road 
Construction Project, Burned to Death after Rescuing 
Innocent Members of the Public from Imminent Collision with 
a Runaway Truck. 

Daren LaFayette, age 19, was a worker on a project to improve 

Flowery Trail Road, a steep, mountain road near Chewelah, Washington. 

RP 251, 473. N.A. Degerstrom, the general contractor, subcontracted with 

LaFayette's employer, Sharp-Line Industries, Inc., for road striping and 

sign installation. RP 251, 280, 1305; Exh. P5. N.A. Degerstrom 

contractually delegated to Sharp-Line sole responsibility for the safety of 

Sharp-Line employees such as LaFayette, and accordingly did not ensure 

that Sharp-Line parked its vehicles safely on inclines or used wheel 

chocks as required by regulation. I 

On September 12, 2006, LaFayette was assisting a Sharp-Line 

foreman to install roadside signs. Exh. P23. When the foreman parked 

their work truck, a 1978 Chevrolet C-65 outfitted with a hydraulic auger 

for digging post holes, he failed to set the parking brake or chock the 

I N.A. Degerstrom's contract with Sharp-Line included the provtston, 
"Subcontractor shall be solely responsible for the protection and safety of its 
employees[.]" Exh. PS at 6 (emphasis added). N.A. Degerstrom failed to require 
Sharp-Line to adopt a site-specific accident prevention program or address safe 
parking of vehicles on an incline. RP 320-21, 480, 1197-98. Although N.A. 
Degerstrom's own accident prevention program included a wheel chock 
requirement for equipment, N.A. Degerstrom failed to supervise or enforce 
compliance with any chock requirement. RP 480; Exh. P4 at 0009. N.A. 
Degerstrom failed to provide wheel chocks to Sharp-Line or to require that it 
provide or use wheel chocks as required by WAC 296-155-610(2)(b). RP 480, 
1203-05. 
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wheels. Exhs. P23, P46, Dill. With the truck facing downhill and the 

transmission in neutral, the truck was secured only by a supplemental 

"lever lock" brake, which relied upon hydraulic pressure. Exh. P23; RP 

155, 172. At around 3:30p.m., N.A. Degerstrom's foreman drove by and 

observed the parked auger truck but failed to inspect for chock usage. RP 

480, 513-14. About an hour later, the truck began to roll downhill toward 

oncoming traffic. RP 67-69,480, 513. 

Alarmed by the imminent hazard, LaFayette sprinted and caught 

up with the truck on foot, entered the cab, and immediately diverted it 

from an imminent collision with an oncoming vehicle occupied by two 

men. RP 67-72. Though the truck's brakes were inoperable, LaFayette 

managed to navigate the winding road downhill for a mile and a half 

before the truck gained too much speed to control it. RP 131. The truck 

smashed through a guardrail and went airborne before crashing down on 

its side at the bottom of an embankment and bursting into flames. RP 

127-32, 815; see Exhs. P52, 53. The resulting inferno precluded any 

attempt to rescue LaFayette. RP 815-16. 

B. Before His Death, LaFayette Provided Necessary and 
Economically Valuable Property Maintenance and 
Improvement Services to His Mother and Stepfather, Mr. and 
Mrs. Millican. 

Daren LaFayette was born in 1987. CP 798. He had no spouse or 

children. He and his older brother and sister grew up in a rustic log cabin 

on ten acres in a rural area outside the small town of Elk, about 30 miles 

north of Spokane, Washington. CP 660-61,753. The home lacked power 
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or running water until 1993. CP 710, 798. Its only source of heat was, 

and continued to be, a wood-burning stove. CP 798. Due to the rustic 

nature and rural location of the home, a substantial amount of physically 

demanding work was necessary to maintain it in habitable condition. CP 

798. 

LaFayette's mother, Dorothy Ann Millican, separated from his 

natural father in 1989. CP 798. In 1992, the year the divorce was 

finalized, she suffered a massive pulmonary embolism. CP 710, 799. 

Though she survived, she suffered thereafter with pulmonary hypertension 

and related permanent physical disabilities. CP 905-06. Her primary 

symptoms were persistent and severe shortness of breath and fatigue due 

to restriction of her pulmonary arteries. CP 711, 799, 906-07. 

Mrs. Millican's physician, Julie Moran, M.D., diagnosed her with 

the most severe form of pulmonary hypertension, a progressive condition 

that causes the heart to weaken and enlarge. CP 906. This condition 

limited Mrs. Millican's ability to walk more than very short distances, and 

she was "significantly limited in her ability to do any chores involving 

aerobic activity." CP 908. Dr. Moran opined that Mrs. Millican's 

condition restricted her from performing household chores, and that 

attempting to perform any type of strenuous work "could be dangerous." 

CP 908. Although Mrs. Millican worked two jobs, neither of them was 

physically demanding. CP 726-29. She was employed full time as a 

teacher's assistant with the public school district and part time as an 

assistant in a foster home. CP 726, 803-04. 
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Mrs. Millican married LaFayette's stepfather, David Millican, in 

1995. CP 661. Like his wife, Mr. Millican lacked the capability to 

perform even routine home maintenance and repairs. Mr. Millican's 

physical limitations included asthma, neck and back problems, and 

arthritis, among others. CP 824-25. Although he worked as an 

elementary school janitor, his job responsibilities were limited to dusting, 

mopping, and cleaning restrooms. CP 830. In addition to his janitor job, 

Mr. Millican worked part time as an assistant in the same foster home 

where Mrs. Millican worked. CP 833. 

Mr. Millican lacked any knowledge of "carpentry, electrical or 

anything like that." CP 800, 829. Indeed, his maintenance responsibilities 

at the school were limited to changing light bulbs, and he was "not really 

allowed to have tools" due to his lack of knowledge or ability to use them. 

CP 830. In addition, he was restricted from lifting more than 20 to 30 

pounds due to his back problems. CP 826. At home, he would clean, 

change light bulbs, and sometimes use the riding lawn mower, paint, or 

shovel snow as his health allowed, but the majority of the maintenance 

was left to his stepson, Daren LaFayette. CP 800-03, 828-31. 

Given his parents' limitations, LaFayette was responsible for 

significant work at the family's rural home and property from an early 

age. Initially, LaFayette and his two older siblings shared responsibility 

for the physically demanding chores and maintenance. CP 702. But after 

his older brother moved out in 2002, LaFayette was at age 15 the only 

child living at home, and he handled virtually all the work his parents 
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could not do. CP 702. In addition, that same year he took his first 

summer job, working for Joe's Mows doing yard maintenance and 

landscaping, building decks, and installing irrigation systems. CP 665, 

670, 672, 673. Having learned some construction skills, LaFayette 

undertook his first significant projects on his own, building a new deck for 

his parents and replacing a sliding door with french doors. CP 699, 704, 

706. 

Shortly after graduating from high school in 2005, LaFayette took 

a job in construction with a local builder of custom homes, where he 

learned additional skills such as framing, siding, and roofing. CP 675. He 

began supporting himself and bought his own tools, but continued living 

with his parents near Elk until 2006. CP 675, 678, 686. 

Before moving out on his own, in the years 2003-2005, LaFayette 

undertook significant maintenance and improvement projects at his 

parents' home. For instance, after a tree fell on the dormer over the master 

bedroom in 2003, punching holes in the roof and breaking windows, 

LaFayette made the necessary repairs, patching the roof and replacing the 

windows. CP 695, 696-700. In addition, he improved accessibility by 

building a deck off the front of the house that wrapped around and 

connected with the larger, side deck he had built previously. CP 697. He 

cleaned and stained the existing decks and removed an unused brick 

chimney. CP 702, 744, 800-801, 815. And he added outdoor power 

outlets and lighting adjacent to the decks and in areas inside the log home 

that previously lacked power, such as the dining room. CP 695, 701, 802. 
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LaFayette did not just maintain and improve the home itself, but 

did substantial other work to maintain the ten-acre property. The 

driveway to the house was approximately 100 yards long. CP 745. When 

there was heavy snow, LaFayette would borrow a neighbor's snow plow 

and use it to clear the driveway as necessary for ingress and egress. CP 

744-45. In addition, he would manually clear the decks and walkways of 

snow. CP 744. When the driveway washed out due to flooding, 

LaFayette used a bobcat from Joe's Mows to restore access to the 

property. CP 801, 815. He also regularly removed fallen trees and 

repaired or replaced damaged screen doors and television antennas as 

necessary after storms. CP 801, 802, 815. 

LaFayette moved out in March of 2006 and got his own apartment 

in Spokane after taking the job with Sharp-Line. CP 676-78. But despite 

establishing his own household as an adult, LaFayette did not stop 

regularly maintaining and improving his parents' home; he continued 

performing the necessary maintenance and completed substantial further 

improvements to the home. See CP 800, 802-03. For instance, LaFayette 

added track lighting in the kitchen, where previously his parents had only 

lamps hung from nails. CP 693. He refinished the decks, installed ceiling 

fans, and insulated the floor of the main level of the home. CP 744, 802, 

803. And where his parents had only temporary construction stairs 

leading up to the second story that had been added over ten years earlier, 

LaFayette finished the stairs with permanent treads. CP 690-92, 707. 
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The last major project LaFayette undertook for his parents was to 

replace the old greenhouse where they stored the firewood they burned for 

heat. CP 688, 815-16. The greenhouse was rotting and partially 

collapsed, and was too small. CP 688-89, 707-08, 815-16. LaFayette had 

his parents start buying lumber for a new storage building over a period of 

months as they could afford it. CP 688-89. During the summer of 2006, 

LaFayette used a bobcat to level the ground and spread rock for the site, 

and substantially completed construction of large pole building with 

plenty of room to store firewood and yard equipment. CP 688-89, 707, 

815-16. Unfortunately, LaFayette died before he could pour a concrete 

floor or add power to the building. CP 689, 816-17. 

Before his death, LaFayette had made specific plans to continue 

providing maintenance as well as construction services to his parents. 

Among other projects, LaFayette was going to replace all the windows in 

the house, as it was difficult to keep the house warm in the winter and 

there were issues with water intrusion and rot in some areas. CP 707-08, 

816-18. Mrs. Millican had already started buying windows before her 

son's death, but he did not get to begin that project. CP 708. 

In addition, LaFayette planned to remodel and add onto his 

parents' home to accommodate their physical disabilities and make it 

suitable for use as a foster home, which would provide income. CP 804-

05, 817-18. Mrs. Millican estimated that she could have earned up to 

$13,000 a month operating a foster home. CP 752. She had discussed 

with LaFayette specific plans to add a master bedroom on the main level 
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and use the upstairs bedrooms for foster children. CP 746-47, 804-05, 

816. They also planned to add a handicap-accessible bathroom and build 

a garage with a studio apartment that could initially be rented for income 

and later used as living space for a home care assistant. CP 746-47, 804, 

816-1 7. The construction would have been done in phases to make it 

affordable. CP 747. 

Although LaFayette did not provide cash support or medical care 

to his mother, she testified that the extraordinary assistance that LaFayette 

had provided with physically demanding labor and chores had helped her 

avoid exacerbating her shortness of breath and other serious symptoms of 

pulmonary hypertension. CP 710, 750-51. Mrs. Millican further testified 

that LaFayette provided services that were "necessary for maintenance and 

habitability" of her home. CP 801. Mrs. Millican submitted expert 

testimony that the construction, maintenance, and repair labor provided by 

LaFayette without compensation before his death would have cost about 

$13,000 to hire out, and that the services he had planned to provide in the 

next few years would have cost over $61,000. CP 884-85, 898-902. She 

testified that with her and Mr. Millican each working two jobs just to get 

by, their financial circumstances did not enable them to hire contractors to 

perform the services LaFayette had performed at no charge. CP 752-53, 

800, 804. 
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C. The Trial Court Granted Partial Summary Judgment to the 
Defendants, Dismissing Mrs. Millican's Claim as a Statutory 
Beneficiary of the Wrongful Death Claim, and Denied 
Reconsideration. 

Mrs. Millican was named the personal representative of her son's 

estate and brought a wrongful death and survival action against N.A. 

Degerstrom and other defendants, naming herself as a statutory 

beneficiary of the action. CP 7-23. Before trial, all defendants jointly 

moved for partial summary judgment to dismiss Mrs. Millican's claim as a 

statutory beneficiary. CP 642-43. The defendants contended that Mrs. 

Millican was not "dependent upon the deceased person for support" under 

RCW 4.20.020 and therefore was not a qualified beneficiary of the action. 

CP 642-43. Presented with evidentiary materials containing the facts set 

forth above, the trial court granted the motion and dismissed Mrs. 

Millican's claim. CP 943-45. 

Mrs. Millican timely moved for reconsideration based in part on 

facts arising since the filing of her summary judgment opposition papers. 

CP 947-48. In a declaration, Mrs. Millican described how she had lost the 

title to her home of 25 years at a foreclosure sale and had very recently 

received an eviction notice. CP 961-62. She attributed the loss of her 

home in large part to the termination of her son's services, stating: 

The services which my son, Daren Lafayette, provided to me were 
a valuable and important consideration for me in keeping my 
home. First, my husband and I are unable to physically perform 
the services he provided. Second, my husband and I are 
financially unable to pay someone else to perform the tasks 
necessary for the maintenance and upkeep of our home. Finally, I 
am unable to have the property maintained at the level it was prior 
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to Daren's death. Refinancing a home that is losing value does not 
make financial sense. 

CP 962. The trial court denied the motion for reconsideration, reasoning 

in part that there was no evidence that LaFayette had contributed to the 

mortgage payments. CP 1284-87. 

D. On Appeal from a Defense Verdict, the Court of Appeals 
Reversed the Judgment on the Verdict and Ordered a New 
Trial as to the Estate's Claim against Defendant N.A. 
Degerstrom, but Affirmed the Summary Judgment Dismissal 
of Mrs. Millican's Claim as a Statutory Beneficiary. 

After a trial, the jury found that none of the defendants was 

negligent, and the trial court entered judgment on the verdict. CP 3205-

07, 3208-11. On behalf of the estate, Mrs. Millican appealed from the 

judgment on the verdict as to defendant N.A Degerstrom. CP 3288-3321. 

She also appealed from the summary judgment dismissal of her claim as a 

statutory beneficiary. CP 3288-3321. 

The Court of Appeals reversed the judgment on the verdict and 

remanded for a new trial on liability and damages as to N.A. Degerstrom. 

Slip op. at 17. The court reasoned that the trial court committed 

prejudicial error in denying a motion in limine to exclude evidence or 

argument by N.A. Degerstrom that it did not exercise or retain supervisory 

control or authority over Sharp-Line during construction operations, 

including a provision of the subcontract delegating to Sharp-Line sole 

responsibility for the safety of Sharp-Line's employees. Exh. P5 at 6. 

But the Court of Appeals affirmed the summary judgment 

dismissal of Mrs. Millican's claim as a statutory beneficiary, reasoning 
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that LaFayette "provided no medical care or monetary support to his 

mother" and that Mrs. Millican "made no showing of financial 

dependence" on the services provided by LaFayette. Slip op. at 32-36. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. The Court of Appeals' Holding that the Trier of Fact May 
Consider Only Monetary Contributions or Medical Care and 
Related Direct Personal Assistance as "Support" under RCW 
4.20.020 Is In Conflict with This Court's Decision in 
Armantrout v. Carlson. 

Both economic and noneconomic damages are recoverable as 

losses suffered by those who qualify under RCW 4.20.020 as statutory 

beneficiaries of a wrongful death and survival action. See RCW 4.20.020; 

RCW 4.20.046(1); WPI 31.03.02. Absent qualified beneficiaries, an 

estate may recover economic damages based on the survival of the 

decedent's cause of action for personal injuries resulting in death, but 

noneconomic damages will not be available in that action. RCW 

4.20.046(1); see also WPI 31.01.02. Under the statutes authorizing 

wrongful death and survival actions, the parents of a deceased adult child 

may recover as beneficiaries only after demonstrating that they were 

dependent upon the child for support. Philippides v. Bernard, 151 Wn.2d 

376, 386, 88 P.3d 939 (2004), citing RCW 4.20.020 (wrongful death); 

RCW 4.24.010 (injury or death of a child); RCW 4.20.046 (general 

survival statute); RCW 4.20.060 (special survival statute). 

This Court has consistently interpreted "support" as used in these 

statutes as meaning financial support. See Philippides, 151 Wn.2d at 386 
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(citing cases). In Philippides, this Court confirmed that "support" means 

financial and not emotional support. !d. at 388. More recently, in 

Armantrout v. Carlson, 166 Wn.2d 931, 214 P.3d 914 (2009), this Court 

held that "support" is not limited to monetary contributions but may 

include economically valuable services. 

The plaintiffs in Armantrout alleged that the decedent's mother, 

who was diabetic and blind, was dependent upon direct personal 

assistance that her deceased adult daughter had provided without 

compensation. 166 Wn.2d at 933-34. The daughter's services had 

included transportation, reading, and assisting with medical needs such as 

glucose readings and insulin injections. !d. The jury found that the 

Armantrouts were dependent on the decedent for support and awarded 

them damages. 166 Wn.2d at 934. The Court of Appeals reversed and 

held that the jury had been instructed incorrectly because "conferring 

services and other benefits does not constitute financial support." !d. 

(citation omitted). This Court reversed the Court of Appeals and held in a 

unanimous decision that, other than casual gifts or everyday services a 

child would routinely provide, the trier of fact may consider economically 

valuable services as "support" under RCW 4.20.020. 166 Wn.2d at 937-

38, 940-41. 

This Court specifically held in Armantrout that "support" under 

RCW 4.20.020 need not include monetary contributions. 166 Wn.2d at 

938. This Court held that, while "everyday services a child would 

routinely provide" are properly excluded from consideration by the trier of 
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fact as support, other "services with an economic value" may be 

considered. !d. at 938, 940. This Court reasoned in part that interpreting 

"support" as limited to monetary contributions would lead to absurd 

results and unfair application of the right of action for wrongful death, as 

"parents who received monetary contributions from their adult child to 

purchase valuable services would qualify as statutory beneficiaries, but 

parents who received those exact same services from their adult child 

would not." !d. at 940. 

The Court of Appeals determined here that the evidence Mrs. 

Millican presented in opposition to summary judgment failed to 

demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact because "the services Mr. 

Lafayette provided are different from the type of support services 

discussed in Armantrout ... ," and "Mr. Lafayette provided no medical care 

or monetary support to his mother[.]" Slip op. at 35. But this Court in 

Armantrout held that monetary contributions are not required and did not 

limit the potentially qualifying services to medical care. Indeed, rather 

than holding that the statute limits the types of services that may be 

considered as support, this Court plainly held in Armantrout that the trier 

of fact may consider any economically valuable services, other than 

everyday services a child would routinely provide. 166 Wn.2d at 938, 

940-41. 

Even accepting the Court of Appeals' conclusion that "[s]ome 

services" LaFayette provided were in the nature of everyday services a 

child would routinely provide, slip op. at 35 (emphasis added), other 
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services he provided clearly did not fall into that category, especially 

considering that he continued providing them after moving out of his 

parents' home and establishing his own household. Under Armantrout, a 

jury is not precluded from considering such services as support. 

The Court of Appeals' holding that Mrs. Millican was required to 

present evidence that LaFayette provided medical care or monetary 

contributions, to demonstrate support, is in conflict with Armantrout, and 

this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(l). 

B. Whether the Trier or Fact May Consider Economically 
Valuable Services Other than Medical Care and Related Direct 
Personal Assistance as "Support" under RCW 4.20.020 Is an 
Issue of Substantial Public Importance that Should Be 
Determined by the Supreme Court. 

Even if the Court of Appeals' decision were not in conflict with 

Armantrout, review would be warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because 

whether the trier may consider economically valuable services other than 

medical care and related direct personal assistance, in determining whether 

a parent is dependent upon her adult child for support, is an issue of 

substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme 

Court. 

The wrongful death statutes, being remedial in nature, are liberally 

construed to give effect to their "humane purpose." Armantrout, 166 

Wn.2d at 936, quoting Bortle v. N Pac. Ry., 60 Wash. 552, 554, 111 P. 

788 (1910); see also Cook v. Rafferty, 200 Wash. 234, 240, 93 P.2d 376 

(1939); Mitchell v. Rice, 183 Wash. 402, 407, 48 P.2d 949 (1935). 
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Accordingly, this Court has not only given effect to the plain language of 

the statutes, but has extended their literal scope, such as by reading "child 

or children" in RCW 4.20.020 as including children born outside of 

wedlock. Armijo v. Wesselius, 73 Wn.2d 716, 440 P.2d 471 (1968). 

Observing that such children were "not necessarily excluded" by the 

express terms of RCW 4.20.020, this Court was guided by "social policy 

considerations" in reaching its conclusion. !d. at 720. 

Support other than medical care and related direct personal 

assistance is likewise "not necessarily excluded" by the plain language of 

RCW 4.20.020. Other than to exclude everyday services a child would 

routinely provide, neither the statute's plain language nor any decision of

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