RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Feb 07, 2014, 12:44 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Court Of Appeals Cause No. 30185-1-III

No. 89690-9

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DOROTHY A. MILLICAN, as Personal Representative of the Estate of DAREN M. LAFAYETTE, and on her own behalf as statutory beneficiary,

Petitioner,

٧.

N.A. DEGERSTROM, INC., a Washington corporation;

Respondent;

MICO, Incorporated, a Minnesota corporation, JAMES R. BONNER d/b/a INDUSTRIAL POWER BRAKE COMPANY,

Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Correctly Applied this Court's Decision in *Armantrout*.

The argument in the petition for review strains credulity to posit a conflict between the approach taken by the Court of Appeals to affirm the dismissal of Ms. Millican's statutory beneficiary claim and the law enunciated by the Court in *Armantrout v. Carlson*, 166 Wn.2d 931, 935, 214 P.3d 914 (2009). The only conflict cited is

based on an incomplete quotation from the Court of Appeals decision.

The Courts Of Appeals applied the *Armantrout* standard to Ms. Millican's evidence. Nevertheless, she complains that one passage from the Court of Appeals opinion provides evidence of some irreconcilable conflict between the outcome here and the Court's precedent.

The Court of Appeals contrasted Ms. Millican's circumstances with Ms. Armantrout's. The opinion states, in part, "Mr. Lafayette provided no medical care or monetary support to his mother." App. at 35. This is only one aspect of the holding of the Court of Appeals.

The full paragraph reveals that the Court properly considered the full panoply of other services and correctly characterized them as either services a child would routinely provide, or future hoped-for contributions, or for those that were "nonroutine" Ms. Millican had failed to provide any evidence of the economic value:

Mr. Lafayette provided no medical care or monetary support to his mother, who was able to get around on her own and hold more than full-time employment. Some services provided by Mr. Lafayette, such as snow plowing and yard maintenance, were in the nature of everyday services a child would routinely provide. Extensive future home and landscaping improvements accounted for a large part of her damage claim[] but they were both hoped-for

contributions and not the degree of dependency contemplated by the statute, which "must be real and substantial and will not arise from occasional gifts or gratuities." *Beggs*, 171 Wn.2d at 82 n.12. Finally, with respect to any assistance she had been receiving from Mr. Lafayette that Ms. Millican might legitimately argue was nonroutine and responded to a real and substantial need, she made no showing of financial dependence on that assistance.

App 35-36 [footnote omitted].

The Court of Appeals decision creates no confusion as to the law in this area, and certainly presents no direct conflict with it. In fact, the Court of Appeals, evaluating the decision of the trial court, which is memorialized in an order on reconsideration, CP 1284-1287, reveals that applicable precedent was followed. The decision is in line with the principles enunciated in the most recent cases of this Court.

Nothing in the Court of Appeals opinion implicitly ignores or overrules some important rule of law from *Armantrout* or other Supreme Court jurisprudence. Nothing about the Court of Appeals decision impairs the validity of the Court's decision in *Armantrout*. The holding in this case is easily harmonized with *Armantrout*. The Court of Appeals opinion undertakes that task effectively.

Under the Wrongful Death Statute, RCW 4.20.020, in order to qualify as a "second tier beneficiary," Ms. Millican must prove her dependence on support of the deceased. *Armantrout v. Carlson*. 166 Wn.2d 931, 935, 214 P.3d 914 (2009). The courts below and

all the parties in this action recognized that the determination of dependency was controlled by the criteria set forth by the Supreme Court in *Armantrout v. Carlson*, *supra*.

The review of an order of summary judgment is *de novo*, considering the facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Beggs v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 171 Wn.2d 69, 75, 247 P.3d 421 (2011). The Court of Appeals correctly considered the evidence in this light. *See generally*, App. 32-36.

The trial court and the Court of Appeals properly applied the following key criteria discussed by the *Armantrout* Court in determining whether the requisite dependency existed:

1) The words "dependent" and "support" are not defined in the statute. Long ago, however, this Court interpreted the meaning of dependency:

[W]e would not give [the statute] such a strict construction as to say it means wholly dependent, or that the parent must have no means of support or livelihood other than the deceased, such a construction being too harsh and not in accordance with the human purpose of the act. Nevertheless, there must be some degree of dependency, some substantial dependency, a necessitous want on the part of the parent and a recognition of that necessity on the part of the child.

Bortle v. Northern Pac. Ry. Co., 60 Wash. 552,554, 111 P. 788 (1910).

This standard retains continuing vitality as it was quoted in Armantrout v. Carlson, supra., at 936. Also approvingly quoted, the requirement of "substantial dependency," articulated in Bortle, supra, has been further defined as "a term having relation to the circumstances of the Plaintiff." Mitchell v. Rice, 183 Wash. 402, 407, 48 P.2d. 949 (1935). This added case law gloss was also recited and applied in Armantrout v. Carlson, supra, at 936. The Court of Appeals properly considered these factors in evaluating the circumstances of Ms. Millican. See, App. 32-33.

- 2) "The dependency must be based on the situation existing at the time of decedent's death; not on promises of future contributions." *Grant v. Libby, McNeill, & Libby,* 145 Wash. 31, 38-39,258 P. 8420 (1927). *See, also, Armantrout v. Carlson, supra*, at 936. The Court of Appeals distinguished the evidence and claims of Ms. Millican, in part based on the future nature of the claims, from those considered dispositive in *Armantrout, supra. See,* App. at 32-33, 36.
- 3) "Contributions which may be characterized as casual gifts do not achieve the required status." David C. Cummins, Comment, *Damages in Washington Wrongful Death Actions*, 35 Wash. L. Rev. 441, 449-50 (1960), *cited in Armantrout v. Carlson*, *supra*, at 937. The Court of Appeals took this factor into account. App. at 36.

4) "Under these guidelines, Court's have generally allowed claims by beneficiaries who can demonstrate they have a need for the decedent's regular contributions of support." *Estes v. Schulte*, 146 Wash. 688, 689, 264 P. 990 (1928). *cited in Armantrout v. Carlson, supra*, at 936.

None of these principles were erroneously cited or applied. The factual circumstances of Ms. Millican simply differ in kind and quality from those recognized in *Armantrout v. Carlson, supra.*

As established by the factual record submitted in the trial court, Mr. Lafayette simply did not provide financial support to Ms. Millican. CP 642-787, 797-946. No evidence showed that Ms. Millican and her husband were dependent on Mr. Lafayette for living expenses. *See,* order on motion for reconsideration, CP 1284-87.

At most, certain declarations indicated Mr. Lafayette did help with some projects on his mother's property and would have been willing to do additional projects in the future as the Ms. Millican's purchased the materials for those projects. Unlike the adult child in *Armantrout*, however, Mr. Lafayette did not provide medical care to Ms. Millican, did not live with the Millicans, and did not contribute financially to household expenses. In fact, the Millicans had multiple fulltime jobs at the time of Mr. Lafayette's death. CP 651.

The trial court affirmed summary judgment after reconsideration, finding, "[T]here is no evidence that the Millican's

were dependent on these services for their support." CP 1287. The Court of Appeals correctly held, "The trial court properly granted the defendants' motion for partial summary judgment dismissing Ms. Millican's individual claim." App. at 36.

B. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Does Not Implicate any Issues of Substantial Public Interest.

The argument in support of the petition for review half-heartedly raises RAP 13.4(b)(4). The petitioner fails to provide any analysis of how this issue really resonates throughout the state of Washington. For example, the petitioner has not pointed to any evidence in the record or information capable of judicial notice which demonstrates the issue is recurring in nature or impacts a large number of people. See, e.g., 3 WASHINGTON APPELLATE PRACTICE DESKBOOK, 27-9 (Washington State Bar Ass'n 2d ed., 1998).

Although the trial court ruling eliminated the source of a substantial jury verdict for Ms. Millican in the case, see, CP 645, the outcome of the matter does not truly affect anyone other than the particular litigants in this case. The argument made about construing the wrongful death statute to effectuate a "humane purpose" does not rise to the level of a "substantial public interest." Otherwise, evidence of a claim to status as a beneficiary under the wrongful death statute would implicate such a question every time every time a court considered it. The Court of Appeals properly

applied the precedent, as shown above, developed over the years to effectuate the purposes of the act.

IV. RAP 13.4(d) CONDITIONAL NEW ISSUES FOR REVIEW

A respondent must raise in its answer any issue that it wishes the Court to address. *Estate of Jordan v. Hartford Acc. & Indem. Co.*, 120 Wn.2d 490, 844 P.2d 403 (1993). In *Walker v. State*, 121 Wn.2d 214, 848 P.2d 721 (1993), the Court used the issues raised in respondent's answer as the vehicle to reinstate the jury's verdict. *See also, Lewis River Golf, Inc. v. O.M. Scott & Sons*, 120 Wn.2d 712, 725, 845 P.2d 987 (1993) (Court considered conditionally raised issues).

If the Court is persuaded to accept review of the petitioner's issues, Degerstrom requests the Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals in the published portion of its opinion. App at 1-21.

Two considerations recommend accepting review of the published part of the decision of the Court of Appeals if the Court accepts the petition for review:

1) The decision of the Court of Appeals reversing and remanding for new trial conflicts with the decision of this court in *Stute v. P.B.M.G., Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 454,788 P.2d 545 (1990). *See,* RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2) The decision of the Court of Appeals reversing and remanding for new trial is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals in *Degroot v. Berkley Constr., Inc.*, 83 Wn. App. 125, 920 P.2d 619 (1996). *See,* RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The dissent of Judge Brown contained at the end of the Appendix opinion of the Court of Appeals articulates the considerations governing acceptance of review as well as respondent here can articulate them in this answer. His reasoned opinion properly concludes that majority opinion does not afford the requisite deference to the trial court's decisions, and as a result conflicts with these two precedents in a meaningful way.

Judge Brown would have concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the subcontract between Degerstrom and Sharp-Line Industries, Inc., Daren Lafayette's employer. See, App. at 37 (concurrence/dissent unnumbered first page). Ultimately, the Court of Appeals decision directly conflicts with this Court's decision in Stute, supra, 114 Wn.2d at 464 and Degroot, supra, 83 Wn. App. at 129. See, App at 38-39, 40-41 (concurrence/dissent at 2-3, 4-5)

The trial court correctly reasoned *Stute* allowed a general contractor to contractually require subcontractors to furnish adequate safety equipment and correctly admitted the subcontract with the understanding that it would deal with the legal issues of the

non-delegable duties of a general contractor in its instructions to the jury. See RP 5-6.

The trial court properly did so. The jury was instructed on plaintiff's claims against Degerstrom, on negligence, *Stute*, the effect of a violation of WISHA and the provisions of WISHA at issue, employer's immunity, and sole proximate cause. CP 3176, 3178-80, 3182-84, 3191.

The Court of Appeals violated a clear mandate of Washington jurisprudence in reversing and remanding this case for new trial. "We assume juries follow the instructions." Dissent, App at 42 (concurrence/dissent page 6), citing *Degroot*, 83 Wn. App. at 131.

If the Court accepts review of the unpublished wrongful death statute issues, it should review the Court of Appeals determination of the published portion of the opinion.

V. CONCLUSION

The Petition for Review should be rejected. The considerations governing acceptance of review from RAP 13.4 do not exist in this case for the issue on which Petitioner seeks review.

If the Court accepts review of the unpublished decision affirming the dismissal of Ms. Millican's statutory beneficiary claim, the Court should address whether the Court of Appeals erred in its

published decision reversing evidentiary rulings and remanding for new trial.